
UNITED STATES' DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

CASE No. 26-CR-60088-DIMITROULEAS 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

v. 

BOISE CASCADE COMP ANY, 

Defendant. ______________ __;/ 

FACTUAL PROFFER 

The United States Attorney for the Southern District of Florida and the Environmental 

Crimes Section of the United States Department of Justice (collectively, the "United States"), and 

Boise Cascade Company (hereinafter referred to as the "Defendant" or "Boise") agree that, had 

this case_proceeded to trial, the United States would have presented evidence proving the following 

beyond a reasonable doubt: 

Beginning in or around November 2017 and continuing through and-including February 

2021, Defendant was a publicly traded company, incorporated in Delaware, with two wholly 

owned subsidiaries: one that manufactured wood products, and one being a wholesale distributor 

of building materials. One of its distribution centers was located in Pompano B~ach, Florida, 

within the Southern District of Florida. 

l 

From on or about April 25, 2017, through on or about August 22, 2017, _and from on or 

about December 20, 2017, through at-least April 22, 2021, countervailing duties of22.98% applied 

to all imports of hardwood plywood for which the country of origin was the People's Republic of 

China. 

------~--------- - ---- - ---
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From on or about June 23, 2017, through on or about December 19, 2017, and from on or 

about December 27, 2017, through at least April 22, 2021, anti-dumping duties of 183 .36% applied 

to all imports of hardwood plywood for which the country of origin was the People's Republic of 

China. 

At all relevant times, plywood with both outer plies of coniferous wood (softwood), 

regardless of country of export, carried a general duty of 8%, with few exceptions. For example, 

plywood containing an outer ply of Parana pine (Araucaria angustifolia) was duty-free. 

Defendant did not import hardwood plywood itself but instead purchased some of its 

hardwood plywood from suppliers. Between November 2017 and February 2021, Defendant's 

Pompano location purchased hardwood plywood from Horizon Plywood ("Horizon"), a Florida­

based plywood import company owned and operated by Noel Quintana and Kelsy Quintana 

(collectively, "the Quintanas"). The Quintanas pleaded guilty to conspiracy, Lacey Act, and in 

Noel Qui9tana's case, smuggling violations on October 19, 2023, based on their importing 

hardwood plywood, particularly birch plywood from China falsely declared as being manufactured 

in other countries or by misidentifying the wood species to evade the greater than 200% duties 

imposed on plywood imports from China. See United States v. Quintana et al., Case No. 21-CR-

20245-BLOOM. On November 13, 2023, Horizon employee, Marta Angelbello (','Angelbello") 

also pleaded guilty to making a false statement in a declaration (18 U.S.C. § 542) related to her 

role in the Quintanas' illegal imports of Chinese· hardwood plywood. See United States v. 

Angelbello, Case No. 23-CR-20413-ALTONAGA. 

Defendant was aware by December 1, 2017, as shown by internal emails, that "[a]ll 

hardwood plywood manufactured in China and imported to the USA will be charged a ~206% 

duty." Defendant advised its employees and suppliers to be careful of their sell price in. anticipation 
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of this increased cost and provided some suggested alternative (non-Chinese) sourcing for its 

buyers. 

During the sales years of 2018 through 2021, Defendant's Pompano location purchased 

hardwood plywood from Horizon, totaling more than $30 million. Beginning in approximately 

2019, Defendant purchased, received, sold, and transported hardwood plywood knowing 

(including actions manifesting willful blindness) that hardwood plywood was illegally imported 

from China, that is, without paying duties because, among other things: (1) before the duties were 

imposed, Defendant knew or should have known the plywood purchased from Horizon was 

sourced from China; (2) the appearance, marking, and low pricing of the plywood did not change 

once the approximately 200% duties were imposed; (3) Defendant was generally aware of and on 

notice of duty evasion schemes following the imposition of the tariffs; ( 4) Defendant was aware 

that Horizon had previously transshipped product; and ( 5) in the two weeks following the 

execution of a federal search warrant at Horizon buildings, Defendant's Pompano location 

continued purchasing and receiving plywood from Horizon. 

On December 4, 2018, one of Defendant's product managers based in Pompano emailed 

his Regional Commodity ·Procurement Manager asking if he could _buy "Gmelina plywood" 

offered by Horizon which Horizon stated was ·legal to bring from China. Horizon's email offering 

the products noted that "Gmelina" plywood was pine and thus not included in the antidumpin'g 

prohibitions. Basic research could have quickly confirmed that "Gmelina" is a hardwood, not a 

pine. Defendant's procurement manager responded, presumably without conducting that research, 

in part: "I wouldn't import them myself directly from China unless I had an official approval from 

U.S. Customs but if you are buyingit from ... Horizon then they are the importer of record so 

Customs should not be able to come after us." 

- 3 -
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In another example, in or around May 2018, Defendant received photographs from a mill 

in China showing plywood with Boise's name affixed to it, and a purchase order number from 

December 2017. Defendant further received notification from Horizon, that its wood was now 

being shipped from Malaysia instead of Vietnam. In emails dated December 11, 2018, Defendant's 

• employees discussed the price difference between Horizon and its competitors. They noted that 

Horizon's pricing "is always lower than what we can buy" and went on to discuss that the then 

current price for plywood from Cambodia was $28.16 per sheet plus freight and Defendant would. 

still have to strip every container, while Horizon's price was $27.10 per sheet delivered to 

Defendant's Pompano location on a flatbed truck. Defendant's procurement manager responded 

that she was pretty sure Horizon's product was being 'made in Malaysia as claimed and not 

transshipped from China because other importers had offered her birch plywood made in Malaysia, 

but she noted that "[w]e know Horizon has sold transshipped plywood in the past" and suggested 

it would be better to try to get the same price from elsewhere. Later research by Defendant's 

employee determined that the exporter in Malaysia of at least some of Horizon's plywood was not 

a mill, but a trading company. 

In another example, on December 14, 2018, Noel Quintana sent Defendant an EPA 

certification and registration for plywood from a factory in Malaysia. Although the name of the 

factory was partially covered, Defendant discerned that it was the "Bunga Ray" mill. However, 

Bunga Ray informed Defendant that it did not produce that purported product. Upon learning this, 

Defendant's procurement manager emailed a colleague, "So Horizon lied again?" Despite 

knowing this information, the Pompano location continued to purchase plywood from Horizon at 

prices not available from other suppliers. 

-4-
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The government executed a search warrant at Horizon's warehouse in South Florida on 

January 5, 2021, which Defendant's Pompano branch employees acknowledged was a widely 

known incident. Despite knowing that Horizon was under some federal investigation, albeit the 
I_, 

nature of the investigation being unknown, Defendant continued to order product from Horizon, . 

placing at least ten new orders for birch plywood between January 8, 2021, and January 19, 2021. 

Th~ United States and Defendant agree that these facts are sufficient to establish 

Defendant's guilt as to the crime charged in the Information. 

By: 

Date: i/i1c/i-u By: 

y /z-1 )ab 
Date: ------ By: 

By: 

By: 

JASON A. REDING QUINONES 

~?EY 

TIA HARRis 
ASSISTANT UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 

ADAMR.F. GUSTAFSON 
PRINCIPAL DEPUTY ASSIST. ATTY. GEN. 

UNI~~> S DEPARTMENT 0~ JUSTICE 

EMILYR. ONE 
TRIAL ATTORNEY · 

q,z d 
ERIC R. BRES'fii­
ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT 

~ 
MELISSA S. GELLER 
ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT 

4/7~ 
REPRESENTATIVE OF BOISE CASCADE 

COMP ANY DEFENDANT 
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UNITED STATES l)ISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA' 

CASE NO. 26-CR-60088-DIMITROULEAS 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

v. 

BOISE CASCADE COMP ANY, 

Defendant. 

---------------'' 

PLEA AGREEMENT 

The Environmental Crimes Section of the En,vironment and Natural Resources Division of 

the United States Department of Justice, and the United States Attorney's Office for the Southern 
, \ 

District of Florida ( collectively "the Government") an.d Boise Cascade Company (the 

"Defendant") enter into the following agreement: 
,, 

1. The Defendant will waive indictment and plead guilty to the Information. The 

Information charges the Defendant with a violation of the Lacey Act, Title 16, United States Code, 

Sections 3372(a)(l) and 3373(d)(l)(B). The Defendant agrees and understands that the above 

charge involve the Defendant's conduct, and the conduct of others, between in and about 

~ovember 2017 and continuing through February 2021, involving the knowing triffisportation, 

receipt and acquisition of plywood manufactured in China, knowing it was transported, 

specifically imported, in violation of underlying United States law. This agreement resolves the 

Defendant's federal criminal liability in the Southern District of Florida, growing out of any such 

_ criminal conduct by the Defendant known to the Government as of the date of this plea agreement, 

except any tax liabilities. 

( 
-------~--------------- _,. '- -
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2. The Defendant unµerstands and acknowledges that the Court may impose a 

statutory maximum fine of up to twice the gross gain or loss derived from the conviction pursuant 

to 18 U.S.C. § 3571(d) and may order forfeiture and restitution. The Defendant also understands 

and acknowledges that the Court may impose up to five years' probation. The Defendapt further 

understands and acknowledges that, in addition to any sentence imposed under this agreement, a 

special assessment in the amount of $400 will be imposed on the Defendant. The Defendant agrees 

that any special assessments impo'sed shall be paid at the time of sentencing. If the Defendant is 

financially unable to pay the special assessment, the Defendant agrees to present evidence to the 

Government and the Court at the time of sentencing as to the reasons for the Defendant's failure 

to pay. 

3. The Defendant is aware that the sentence will be imposed by the Court after 

considering the advisory Federal Sentencing Guidelines and Policy Statements (hereinafter 

"Sentencing Guidelines"). The Defendant acknowledges and understands that the Court will 

compute an advisory sentence under the Sentencing Guidelines and that the applicable guidelines 

will be determined by the Court relying in part on the results of a pre-sentence investigation by the 

Court's probation office, which investigation will commence after the guilty plea has been entered. 

The Defendant is also aware that, under certain circumstances, the Court may vary from the 

advisory sentencing guideline range that it has computed and may raise or lower that advisory 

sentence under the Sentencing Guidelines. The Defendant is further aware and understands that 

the Court is required to consider the advisory guideline range determined under the Sentencing 

Guidelines, but it is not bound to impose a sentence within that advisory range; the Court is 

permitted to tailor the ultimate sentence in light of other statutory concerns, and such sentence may 

be either more severe or less severe than the Sentencing Guidelines' advisory range. Knowing 

2 
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these facts, the Defendant understands and acknowledges that the Court has the authority to impose 

any sentence within and up to the statutory maximum authorized by law for the offenses identified 

in paragraph 2 and that the Defendant may not withdraw the plea solely as a result of the sentence 

imposed. 

4. The Government reserves the right to inform the Court and the probation office of 

all facts pertinent to the sentencing process, including all relevant information concerning the 

offenses committed, whether charged or not, as well as concerning the Defendant and the 

Defendant's background. Subject only to the express terms of any agreed-upon sentencing 

recommendations contained in this agreement, the Government further reserves the right to make 

any recommendation as to the quality and quantity of punishment. 

5. The Government agrees that it will recommend.at sentencing that the Court re~uce 

by two levels the sentencing guideline level applicable to the Defendant's offense, pursuant to 

Section 3El.l(a) of the Sentencing Guidelines, based upon the Defendant's recognition and 

affirmative and timely acceptance of personal responsibility. If at the time of sentencing the 

Defendant's offense level is determined to b~ 16 or greater, the Governn{ent will move the Court 

for an additional one level decrease pursuant to Section 3E 1.1 (b) of the Sentencing Guidelines, 

. stating that the Defendant has assisted authorities in the investigation or prosecution of the 

Defendant's own misconduct by timely notifying authorities of the Defendant's intention to enter 

a plea of guilty, thereby permitting the government to avoid preparing for trial and permitting the 

government and the Court to allocate their resources efficiently. The Government, however, will 

not be required to make this motion if the Defendant: (1) fails or refuses to make a full, accurate 

and complete disclosure to the probation office of the circumstances surrounding the relevant 

offense conduct; (2) is found to have misrepresented facts to the government prior to entering into 

3 
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this plea agreement; or (3) commits any misconduct after entering into this plea agreement, 
I 

including, but not limited to, committing a state or federal offense, violating any term of release, 

or making false statements or misrepresentations to any governmental entity or official. 

6. The Government and the Defendant agree that, although not binding on the 

probation office or the Court, they will jointly recommend that the Court find that 

a. The applicable Sentencing Guidelines are set forth in U.S.S.G. §§ 2Q2.1 (rather 

than the fine provisions in §8Cl.1, et. seq.), 8B, 8D and 8E. 

b. Pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 8B1.1, no restitution or other remedial relief is owed. 
' 

c. Pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 8B1.2, a compliance program is required. 

d. Pursuantto U.S.S.G. §§ 8Dl.l(a)(2) and (a)(6) and 8Dl.2(a)(2), a term of probation 

is required of1not more than five years with conditions of probation related to the 

creation and implementation of a compliance program as set forth in U.S.S.G. § 

8Dl.3 and 8Dl.4. 

e. Pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 8El.1 and 18 U.S.C. § 3013(a)(l)(B)(iii), a special 

assessment of $400 must be imposed. 

f. The parties agree not to argue that any other specific offense characteristics, 

adjustments, or departures be imposed. 

7. The Government and the Defendant agree that, although not binding on the 
I 

probation office or the Court, they will jointly recommend that the Court impose a sentence that 

consists of: 

a. a fine of $6,382,000, which represents twice the gross profits derived from the . 

plywood at issue in this case, which pursuant to 34 U.S.C. § 20101(b)(l)(A)(ii), 

shall be paid through the Clerk of the United States District Court for the benefit of 

4 
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the Lacey Act Reward Account, which fine shall be made payable to the United 

States Fish and Wildlife Service, 16 U.S.C. § 3375(d); 

b. a $400 special·assessment; 

, c. a term of five years' probation with the special condition that the Defendant must 

implement the co,mpliance plan attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

8. The Defendant is aware that the sentence has not yet been determined by·the Court. 

The Defendant also is aware that any estimate of the probable sentencing range or sentence that 

the Defendant may receive, whether that estimate comes from the Defendant's attorney, the 

Government, or the probation office, is a prediction, not a promise, and is not binding on this 

! 

Office, the probation office or the Court. The Defendant understands further that any 

recommendation that the Government makes to the Court as to sentencing, whether pursuant to 

. this agreement or otherwise, is not binding on the Court and the Court may dis~egard the 

recommendation in its entirety. The Defendant u.ifderstands and acknowledges, as previously 

acknowledged in paragraph 3 above, that the Defendant may not withdraw the Defendant's plea 

based upon the Court's decision not to accept a sentencing recommendation made by the 

Defendant, the Government, or a recommendation made jointly by the Defendant and the 

Government. 

9. The I;)efendant agrees, in an individual and any other capacity, to forfeit to the 

United States, voluntarily and immediately, as a result of the offense in violation of Title 16, United 

States Code, Section 3372, to which the Defendant is pleading guilty, the following, pursuant to 

Title 16, United States Code, Section 3374: 

5 
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a. all fish or wildlife or plantsimported, exported, transported, sold, received, 

acquired, or purchased contrary to the provisions of section 3372(a), or any 

regulation issued pursuant thereto; and 

b. all vessels, vehicles, aircraft, and other equipment used to aid in the importing, 

exporting, transporting, selling, receiving, acquiring, or purchasing of fish or 

wildlife or plants if (A) the owner of such vessel, vehicle, aircraft, or equipment 

was at the time of the alleged illegal _act a consenting party or privy thereto or 

in the exercise of due care should have known that such vessel, vehicle, aircraft, 

or equipment would be used in a criminal violation, and (B) the violation 

involved the sale or purchase of, the offer of sale or purchase of, or the intent 

to sell or purchase, fish or wildlife or plants. 

In addition, the Defendant agrees to forfeiture of substitute property pursuant to 21 U.S.C. §. 

853(p). 

10. The Defendant also agrees to assist the United States in all proceedings, whether 

administrative or judicial, involving the forfeiture to the United States of directly forfeitable or 

substitute assets. This assistance shall include: disclosing within 14 calendar days in a Financial 

Disclosure Statement provided by" this Office the existence, nature and location of all assets in 

which the Defendant has or had any direct or indirect financial interest or control, any assets . 

involved in the offense of conviction, and those held by a spouse, nominee, or other third party; 

taking all steps necessary to locate assets, wherever located; agreeing to the 'entry of an order 

enjoining the transfer or encumbrance of assets; transferring assets to the United States by delivery 

to this Office any necessary and appropriate documentation to deliver good and marketable title to 

assets; liquidating assets, or completing any task which will result in a payment towards the 

6 
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forfeiture money judgment; and not contesting or impeding in any way with any criminal, civil or 

administrative forfeiture proceeding concerning the forfeiture. 

11. The Defendant agrees that forfeiture is independent of any assessment, fine, cost, 

restitution, or penalty that may be imposed by the Court. The Defendant further agrees to waive: 

any constitutional, legal, and equitable.claim or defense to the forfeiture of assets in any judicial 

or administrative proceeding; any applicable time limits for administrative or judidal forfeiture ' 
\,, 

proceedings; any claim~or defense under the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth Amendment to 

the United States Constitution; the requirements of Fed. R. Crim. P. 32.2; and any appeal of the 
• 

I 

forfeiture. The Defendant understands that this plea agreement shall serve as a withdrawal of any 

pending administrative forfeiture claim. 

12. The Defendant is aware that Title 28, United States Code, ~ection 1291 and Title 

18, United States Code, Section 3742 afford the Defendant the right to appeal the sentence imposed 
. . 

in this case. Acknowledging this, in exchange for the undertakings made by the Government in 

this plea agreement, the Defendant hereby waives all rights conferred by Sections 1291 and 3742 

to appeal any senterice imposed, including any restitution order, or to appeal the manner in which 

the sentence was imposed, unless the sentence exceeds the maximum permitted by statute or is the 

result of an upward variance from the advisory, guideline range that the Court establishes at 

sentencing. The Defendant further understands that nothing in this agreement shall affect the 

. Government's right and/or duty to ap:peal as set forth in Title 18, United States Code, Section 

3742(b) and Title 28, United States Code, Section 1291. However, if the Government appeals the 

Defen'dant's sentence pursuant to Sections 3742(b) and 1291, the Defendant shal(be released from 

the above waiver of his right to appeal his sentence. 

7 
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13. The Defendant further hereby waives all rights conferred by Title 28, United States 

Code, Section 1291 to assert arty claim that (1) the statute to which the Defendant is pleading guilty 

is unconstitutional; or (2) the admitted conduct does not-fall within the scope of the statutes of 

conviction. 

14. By signing this agreement, the Defendant acknowledges that the Defendant has 

discussed the appeal waiver set forth in this agreement with the Defendant's attorney. The 

Defendant further agrees, together with the Government, to request that the Court enter a specific 

finding that the Defendant's waiver of its right to appeal the senten9e imposed in this case and its 

right to appeal its conviction in the manner described above was knowing and voluntary. 

15. If the Defendant withdraws from this agreement, or commits or attempts to commit 

any additional federal, state, or local crimes, or intentionally gives materially false, incomplete, or 

misleading testimony or information, or otherwise violates any provision of this agreement, then: 

a. The Government will be released from its obligations under this agreement. The 

Defendant, however, may not withdraw the guilty plea entered pursuant to this 

agreement; 

b. The Defendant will be subject to prosecution for any federal criminal violation, 

including, but not limited to, perjury and obstruction of justice, that is not time­

barred by the applicable statute of limitations on the date this agreement is signed. 

Notwithstanding the subsequent expiration of the statute oflimitations, in any such 

prosecutions, the Defendant agrees to waive any statute-of-limitations defense; and 

c. Any prosecution, including the prosecution that is the subject of this agreement, 

may be premised upon any information provided, or statements made, by the 

Defendant, and all such information, statements, and leads derived therefrom may 

8 
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be used against the Defendant. The· Defendant waives any right to claim that 

statements made pursuant to this agreement before, on, or after the date of this 

agreement, including the statement of facts accompanying this agreement or 

adopted by the Defendant and any other statements made pursuant to this or any 

other agreement with the Government, should be excluded or suppressed under Fed. 

i 

R. Evid. 410, Fed. R. Crim. P. 11.(f), the Sentencing Guidelines, or any other 

provision of the Constitution of federal law. 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 
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16. This is the entire agreement and understanding between the Government and the 

Defendant. There are no other agreements, promises, representations, or understandings. 

Date: By: 

Date: 0 kci-k" By: 

Date: tr--1 ~ By: 
. f 

Date: fZ~ By: 

Date: y/L7'-li By: 

JASON A. REDING QUINONES 
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 

~-:--·-· -------
ASSIST ANT UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 

ADAMR.F. GUSTAFSON 
PRINCIPAL DEPUTY ASSIST. ATTY. GEN. 

UNIT7 
ATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 

EMILY R. STONE 
ENVIRONMENT AL CRIMES SECTION 
UNITED ST:ATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 

Cr}? f4rvl 
ERIC R. BRESLIN 
ATTOJY FOR DEFENDANT 

~ /,N1ELSSAS.GELLER 
ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT 

- ~ 7_·~ • [_ 
REPRESENTATIVEOFBOISE CASCADE 
COMP ANY, DEFENDANT 
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